1956

Ramona Hayward v. Leo George Eastman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an automobile accident case. The Plaintiff filed suit against the Defendant. The case was tried to a jury and the jury brought in a verdict of no cause of action.

The Defendant and his friend, Kenneth R. Parry, were going east in his automobile and hit the Plaintiff and her companion, Mrs. Fay Osborne, while they were behind the car in which they had been riding, crushing them between the two cars.

The accident occurred about a mile and a half west of Fort Herriman on the Lark-Herriman road, U. S.

Highway No. 111 at about 1 a.m. on November 26, 1953. (Ex. 41, officer's report).

The highway at the point of the accident was a blacktop road, sixteen feet wide, with shoulders of varying widths. (Map, Ex. 32), (Photographs Ex. 29, 4, 42, 45), (Officers report Ex. 41), (R. 246), and with a faint yellow line in the middle. There was a slight down grade with a slight curve for a distance of about 500 feet to the west, (Map, Ex. 28,) (Photographs, Ex. 4, 29, 3, 45), (Officers report Ex. 41), (R. 258, 259, 141, 142), and with a sharp curve 600 feet to the west. (Map, Ex. 28), (Photographs, Ex. 2), (R. 246, 385, 141). Vision was not obscured. It was on a clear night. The road was dry with no defects. (R. 278). It was in open country. The automobile in which the Plaintiff had been riding was parked on the side of the road. The accident occurred close to a telephone pole which could be seen 400 to 500 feet from the west. (R. 142, 218, 232, 248), (Officers report, Ex. 41, and maps).

The Plaintiff, Ramona Hayward, and her husband and family were living in Riverton at the time of the accident. During the afternoon prior to the accident, Plaintiff went to her friend, Mrs. Fay Osborne's home to assist her in preparing Thanksgiving dinner that they were going to have at the Osborne residence on Thanksgiving day.

Mr. Francis Osborne came home from work about 5 o'clock (R. 112), and then went to the store. While he was away, Ralph Crane, a relative of the Osbornes',

came to the Osborne home. Mr. Osborne returned home from the store about 9 o'clock (R. 113) and after they had something to eat, Mrs. Osborne wanted some Kool cigarettes and suggested that they go to Riverton to buy them. So the Plaintiff and Mrs. Osborne and Mr. Osborne and Ralph Crane went to Riverton in the Osborne car. They went to Viv's and Arch's a restaurant and beer parlor in Riverton. (R. 113, 114). They stayed at Viv's and Arch's from about ten thirty to eleven thirty and upon leaving decided to take a ride. (R. 113). They went to West Jordan and from there to Lark. On their way back, Mrs. Osborne stopped the automobile and parked off the side of the road so that she could go to the bathroom. (R. 114, 115).

Plaintiff and Fay Osborne went to the bathroom on a side hill. When they came back, Plaintiff looked both ways. There were no cars coming so they started to go behind their car. Plaintiff heard a noise and she looked up. She could see car lights. She said, "Just a minute, Fay, here comes a car," and she turned her head to see if Fay was with her and had stopped. Plaintiff turned around to see where the car was. Just turned her head and it was almost on her. She tried to step back, but she couldn't move. She couldn't get out of the way. She was scared. (R. 122, 123, 156). She estimated the car was traveling 50 to 60 miles per hour and the car came straight at her (R.157).

After the Plaintiff was hit, she tried to pick herself up off the road. Her hands were in the gravel. She tried to raise herself off the road, but couldn't. She was

lying on her side with both legs bent under and the bottom half of her legs were laid up against the top part of her legs. (R. 124). She was picked up and put in the front seat of the Osborne car and Mrs. Osborne was put in the back seat of the Osborne car. Thereafter they were transferred to Mr. Kaywood's car. Mr. Kaywood lived close to where the accident happened and he drove them to the Bingham Canyon hospital which was closed. (R. 125). They then went to Midvale where they were met by the ambulance (R. 180) and taken to the emergency hospital in Salt Lake City and given blood transfusions R. 180, 185). Plaintiff was in the St. Mark's hospital from November 26, 1953 to February 8, 1954, and was back in the hospital five other times, leaving the hospital in a wheel chair on the 26th day of April, 1955, one year and five months after the accident and thirty-four days before the trial. (Ex. 9).

The Plaintiff contended that the car was being driven by Leo George Eastman, the Defendant; but the Defendant contended that the car was being driven by Kenneth R. Parry and not as his agent Plaintiff relied upon the officer's report (Ex. 41) and the statement made by Leo George Eastman to the police officers that he was driving the car (R. 362, 274, 280), and the conversation between Mr. Hayward and Mr. Osborne and Mr. Eastman, in which Mr. Eastman stated he was driving the car. (R. 241, 242).

There was a lot of aspersions about Plaintiff's and Mrs. Osborne's drinking; but there was very little actual evidence of their drinking. The Plaintiff was not drunk

and Mrs. Osborne had nothing to drink. They are the two persons injured and involved in the accident. (R. 398, 235). The evidence on drinking of the respective parties was that the Defendant, Eastman, had two cans of beer at Viv's and Arch's (R. 355, 366), one drink of beer at the Drift-Inn in Lark and opened a can of beer on the way back to Riverton. (R. 367). Kenneth R. Parry had two beers at Viv's and Arch's (R. 307), drank one beer at the Drift-Inn in Lark (R. 309), and two cans of beer were opened in the car on the way back to Riverton, (R. 367), one can apiece. (R. 317).

That the Plaintiff had one beer in the afternoon at the Osborne home and nothing else to drink during that time (R. 147), one drink of whiskey before going to Viv's and Arch's (R. 148), and one drink of beer at Viv's and Arch's. (R. 114). That Mrs. Fay Osborne had nothing whatsoever to drink. (R. 235).

Mike Humphrey, a mechanic at the Riverton Motor Company, described the Osborne automobile and the amount of blood that was in the automobile. That there was flesh on the right side, underneath on the cross beam of the car (R. 164); that the left side of the car was damaged and the left back panel had to be repaired and the left tail light had to be repaired. (Repair order, Ex. 11), (R. 167), and testified that both sides of the trunk of the Osborne car were bent. Each side of the center of the hood of the Eastman car was damaged.

Hortense Wood, custodian of the records of the St. Mark's Hospital, identified the hospital record of the Plaintiff. (R. 172-174).

Francis Osborne testified that the Eastman car went 30 to 35 feet after the accident, (R. 178) and that the Osborne car went 70 to 80 feet (R. 178); and that thereafter they pushed the car out of the road. (R. 179). That they put the girls in the Osborne car then transferred them to the Kaywood car went to Bingham, then to Midvale, then to the County Hospital (R. 180), had a conversation in which Eastman admitted driving the car. (R. 182), and testified that the Eastman car turned left across the road and that the Osborne car was knocked straight down the road. (R. 183). That his car was three feet on the pavement and three feet on the oil when hit. He testified that he measured from the telephone pole to the curve sign and that it was 408 feet, and that from the telephone pole to the sharp curve was 605 feet. (R. 215, 216), (Ex. 3). That a car parked at the telephone post could be seen 500 feet away. (R. 218). That the park lights on his car were turned on. (R. 215).

That Mr. Osborne on rebuttal testified that his car was 6 feet, 2 inches from fender to fender and that the wheel from wheel to wheel outside measure was 5 feet, 3 inches and that his car from bumper to bumper was 16 feet, 3 inches. (R. 396).

Clara Fay Osborne testified that the Plaintiff was at her home and that they went to Viv's and Arch's and that she had nothing to drink. (R. 233, 235). That she remembered driving off the road, right side of car on the dirt, seeing the telephone pole, taking the keys out of the ignition and after that, she had an entire loss of memory until she was in the hospital. (R. 237, 241). That Dr.

Lamb testified that after injuries and loss of blood, the memory is often affected. (R. 212, 213).

Mrs. Osborne on rebuttal testified that she had put the car in gear and that the park lights were on and that Mrs. Hayward was not drunk. (R. 397 and 398).

Franklin S. Harris, Professor of Physical Science, University of Utah, testified going to the scene of the accident (R. 243 to 246), and making tests with a 1951 Ford, the same model as the Defendant's car, that the car could be stopped in a distance of 66 feet, going 45 miles per hour. (R. 384). That a car parked on either side of the telephone pole could be seen for a distance of 400 feet to 500 feet. (R. 248, 249, 385, 386), (Ex. 28). That it was approximately 600 feet to the sharp turn, (R. 246) and if a person is looking, he can see tail lights from the sharp curve. That a car could be plainly seen for 400 feet if parked on the east side of the telephone pole or on the west side of the telephone pole. Drew diagram (Ex. 28), and marked the places where he carried on the experiments. That a car laying down 72 feet of skid marks would be going 42 miles per hour (R. 387) and if it hit a car or object that would mean the car would be going faster than 42 miles per hour. If the car was going 15 miles per hour at time of impact and laid down 72 feet of skid marks, that would mean the car was going faster than 43 miles per hour. (R. 388, 389). In addition to that, if the car also turned and made marks on the pavement, it would be going still faster (R. 389) and if it hit another object it would

mean additional speed. That a car going 40 miles per hour would travel during the reaction time 44 feet; at 50 miles per hour, 55 feet, at 60 miles per hour 66 feet; and at 70 miles per hour, 77 feet. (R. 389, 390).

Dr. Lamb testified that he was called to the hospital on November 26, 1953; that Plaintiff had a compound fracture. That the bones of her legs were exposed to the out side and the bone fragments were protruding through the soft tissues and he took care of the fracture and put screws in the bones to hold them together (R. 191 to 199). That half or two thirds of the tissue in each leg had been smashed and crushed. (R. 186). That he operated, removing the dead tissue and sutured the remaining tissue (R. 186). Plaintiff was listed as critical on the hospital records, meaning that she might die.

That he exhibited the x-rays (Ex. 18 through 24 inclusive) and described them in details, (R. 188) explaining how it was necessary to scrape the bone, which is called saucerization. (R. 196). He stated it was necessary to take some bone from the hip and graft it onto the leg and described the operation of bone grafting. (R. 197). Plaintiff left the hospital on April 26, 1955, in a wheel chair. That Mrs. Hayward might have to return to the hospital and that the bone graft may not be successful. Exhibit 9 shows that the hospital bill is \$3,509.95. Exhibit 10 shows that Dr. Lamb's bill is \$1,617.75 up to date of trial.

William Tipton testified that he had drawn the map to scale, (Ex. 32), (R. 259), and identified a picture

taken by him 200 feet west of the telephone pole. (Ex. 29). That he had taken Exhibit 30 which is 50 feet west of the telephone pole (R. 256), and that he had taken the picture (Ex. 31), (R. 257) which is looking west from 100 feet east of the telephone pole. That it is 400 feet from the telephone pole to the sign. (R. 260, 261) and an additional 200 fet to the first sharp turn (R. 261), (Ex. 33), that the map was drawn to scale and the survey shows very little curve. (Ex. 28).

Carl George, the deputy sheriff of Salt Lake County, made the investigation, and arrived at the scene of the accident at 2:08 a.m. The accident occurred about 1 a.m. See exhibit 41. The accident occurred about one and one half miles west of Fort Herriman. That he measured 72 feet of skid marks. (R. 267), (Officers report, Ex. 41, Map Ex. 32).

He identified exhibit 34 and 35 and that they were introduced in evidence over Plaintiff's objection, (R. 270), identified the automobiles in exhibit 36 as being the Eastman car and in exhibit 37 as being the Osborne car. (R. 271).

He talked to Mr. Parry and Mr. Eastman at the scene of the accident, that they had something to drink (R. 274), that Mr. Eastman told him that he was driving the automobile (R. 274). That the skid marks were 3 feet, 6 inches from the center of the highway, (R. 275, 276.) That the skid marks were on the left hand side going east. He didn't go back to the scene of the accident (R. 276) and had never seen the photographs until the

afternoon of the trial, that he marked on the accident report that vision was not obscured, the pavement was dry, and no defects. (R. 278). The Eastman car was going 40 miles an hour; he thinks he got this information from Defendant, Eastman. The Eastman car went 32 feet after the impact. (R. 279). The Osborne car traveled 84 feet after the impact. (R. 279). He made some rough notes at the scene of the accident and they were his original work sheets which is part of exhibit 41, (R. 281). That he had written over some of his marks (R. 282). He has it marked on his work sheet, girls 35 feet, but doesn't remember what it means. (R. 283). That he determined the point of impact as being 1/10 of a mile from the Kaywood residence (R. 284). That 72 feet of skid marks is a line running down the left side of the Defendant's car. That the map shows 40 inches which is 3 feet, 6 inches from the center line to the left front wheel (R. 284), (Ex. 41), that he marked 74 feet or inches to a tree, couldn't remember what the measurement was for. The statement made by Kenneth R. Parry was part of the report (Ex. 41). He drew a map on the yellow accident report sheet (Ex. 41) and that as part of the report, he stated car number two (the Osborne car) parked on side of road; car number 1, (the Eastman car) going east, hit two ladies that were standing at rear of car number two, knocking both ladies up against the bumper of car number two. He got this information partly from Mr. Eastman, partly from Mr. Parry, and from observation. (R. 286). Officers report introduced as evidence (R. 286), that he got the full skid

marks of the rear tire as 72 feet (R. 287, 288), did not smell the breath of Mr. Eastman or Mr. Parry (R. 288), said there was very little blood on the pavement (R. 288), did not examine the shoulder of the road for skid marks (R. 289). That his report shows that the car traveled 32 feet after impact, although he put 24 feet on the board. (R. 292). That the Osborne car was in gear. (R. 295, 296).

Archie C. Brown, one of the owners of Viv's and Arch's, testified that he didn't let anyone pour liquor in his place (R. 300), that he has known Mr. Eastman for 12 years and that he comes to his place quite often, and that Kenneth R. Parry comes to his place quite often, oftener than Eastman. (R. 300). He doesn't know how many glasses of beer that he served to anyone that night. (R. 301).

Ralph Crane testified that he went to the Osborne home about 9 o'clock. He had been drinking before he arrived at the Osborne home. He doesn't recall drinking whiskey at the Osborne home; doesn't know whether he let anyone drink out of his bottle, that he saw the girls laying in the road and in a minute or two thereafter he helped put them in the Osborne car. (R. 304).

Kenneth R. Parry testified that he works for Archie McFarland & Sons Packing Co., on the killing floor. He had two glasses of beer at Viv's and Arch's Tavern (R. 307), did not know Mrs. Hayward. Left Viv's and Arch's at closing time; went to the Drift-Inn at Lark and did some drinking there. That he drove the car back because

Defendant hadn't had his Ford very long and they had been talking about cars and he would like to drive the car to see how it handled (R. 309, 317, 324). Saw two people standing in the road facing each other; could see they were women. Applied brakes, but slid into them. (R. 310). His driving license had been revoked for drunken driving (R. 315), took one can of beer apiece out of the Drift-Inn with them (R. 317). Lights were good and on high beam (R. 318), was driving 40 miles per hour and was going 15 miles per hour at time of impact. One girls fell directly back of car; other one toward center (R. 318. Was familiar with the road, with the turn, and with the particular place where the accident happened. (R. 318). Had been over the road a thousand times girls (R. 320). Could only see west, up the road from the opposite direction. (R. 319). Both girls turned around before they were hit (R. 319, 320), applied brakes 10 to 15 feet before he slid into the girls. Girls were only 15 feet away from the Osborne car when they were put into it. Could see up the road 75 feet where he hit the girls (R. 320). Could only see west, up the road from the telephone pole 100 feet in day time and 75 to 100 feet at night (R. 321). Changed stories, could only see 50 to 75 feet with the lights of the car on a straightaway. (R. 322, 323), drank two beers at Viv's and Arch's (R. 323), went to try out the car (R. 324). Did not see the Osborne car until he hit it (R. 325). Changed testimony, could see a long ways down the road (R. 327), when confronted with his deposition.

Occie Evans testified that he works for the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Department. He helped Sheriff George make the measurements. That the skid marks were on the hard surface of the highway on the south or right hand side of the road going east and that the skid marks ended up on the dirt shoulder. (R. 330). Thinks possible point of impact was about 20 feet east of the telephone pole, (R. 331) and that he had written on the report, car number two parked on side of road, car number one going east. Hit two ladies who were standing at rear of car number two, knocking both ladies up against bumper of car number two. (R. 332).

Lyle Bates testified that he was a Claims Adjustor and Attorney for the Farmers Underwriters Association (R. 334). He went to the scene of the accident and examined it and took pictures at the scene of the accident and was allowed to make marks on the pictures (R. 350) and conclusions as to what the pictures showed over Plaintiff's objection (R. 339) and that he testified that there was blood all over the place (R. 342). Pools of blood were between 2 and 3 feet. (R. 342). Other skid marks in Exhibit 38. (R. 343). Identified circle on hood where car was damaged. (R. 351). Exhibit 43 shows or looks like a line from a car with brakes on it.

Leo George Eastman, the Defendant, testified that he was employed as a miner at Lark. That he went to Viv's and Arch's and that he saw Ralph Crane, Mrs. Hayward, and Mrs. Osborne. He didn't see them drink any liquor. (R. 354). Eastman didn't particularly notice then and did not actually see them drink beer. (R. 354).

That he started talking to Kenneth R. Parry and that he had two glasses of beer (R. 355). That he left Viv's and Arch's at a quarter to 12 o'clock and went to Lark. Had beer at Drift-Inn in Lark and took beer out with them. Parry wanted to drive the car (R. 356). He let him drive. Car was going 40 miles per hour at time of accident (R. 356, 357). That he saw objects in the road; he thought for a minute it was stock, either horses or cows. Doesn't remember seeing the car at all. (R. 357). That he did not see the girls until they were 25 feet away from him. (R. 359). That the girls were facing east and did not change their position. That they were 100 feet away when he first saw the objects in the road. (R. 360). That the Osborne car only went 20 to 25 feet. (R. 361). Mrs. Osborne, after the accident, was lying along side of the yellow line and Mrs. Hayward was lying to the right of her on the oil. (R. 361). The girls were picked up and put in the Osborne car and then transferred to the Kaywood car. (R. 364). That he had Sealed Beam head lights. That he could see objects from 150 to 200 feet, but could not see them 350 feet ahead (R. 364). Went to Lark for beers. Went to Viv's and Arch's for a beer, (R. 364, 365, 366). Opened the beers in the car. (R. 367). Put the place where the curve started on the map and initialed it. (R. 368), and testified that the accident occurred right at the curve. (R. 369). Said that Exhibit 2 showing sharp curve was substantially the way it looked at the time of the accident. (R. 369). During the testimony of Mr. Eastman, Mr. Hansen stated to the Court that the map was drawn to

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