1956

# Ramona Hayward v. Leo George Eastman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS JUSTIFIED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The defendant in this case was guilty of negligence which was a proximate cause of this accident as a matter of law only if on the basis of the evidence the jury could not reasonably have found otherwise. In their analysis the jury were not compelled to limit their inquiry to the testimony set out by the plaintiff, assuming for the purpose of argument that those bits of evidence standing by themselves would warrant a finding that defendant was negligent as a matter of law. Indeed, the jury should consider all of the evidence. It is their right, within certain limitations which we need not mention here, to decide which witnesses they believe and which witnesses they do not believe, or,

to say it otherwise, what evidence they consider to be correct and what evidence they consider to be incorrect. The trial court has no alternative but to submit the matter to them regardless of how he personally may feel when they reasonably might arrive at a different result. The jury might well have found from the evidence in this case that these defendants, in full possession of their senses, there being no evidence of excessive drinking on their part, approached the scene of the accident at a speed of 40 miles per hour as testified to by the defendant and that such a speed was reaonable under the conditions prevailing. The jury might further find that because of the nature of the terrain the headlights of the defendant's automobile were deflected off the highway until just prior to the actual impact and that by reason of this fact the defendant might not be able to see the women on the highway until he was at a distance of some 100 feet from them, as claimed by him (R. 360); and that the driver did not see the women at about that point as physically demonstrated by the fact that the driver was able to get the brakes on and lay down 72 feet of skid marks prior to the actual impact. If we grant that the jury might have so found, the authorities cited by plaintiff do not compel a determination of this issue in her favor.

The case of *Nikoleropoulos v. Ramsey*, 61 Utah

465, 214 Pac. 304 involved a pedestrian who was struck while walking on State Street in Salt Lake County, Utah. The highway there runs north and south at the point where the collision occurred and then on to Salt Lake City a distance of 6 or 7 miles. In deciding that case the court quoted from *Lauson v. Fond du Lac*, 141 Wis. 57, 123 N. W. 629, 25 L. R. A. (N.S.) 40, 135 Am. St. Rep. 30:

“The driver of an automobile, who, while traveling on a dark, rainy night over a *straight* stretch of strange country road, drives his machine at such a rate of speed that he cannot bring it to a standstill within the distance that he can plainly see objects or obstructions ahead of him, is not exercising ordinary care.”

In the case of *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co.*, 80 Utah 331, 15 Pac. (2d) 309 we are again concerned with a straight stretch of highway. Said the court:

“ \* \* \* As plaintiff approached the place where the truck was standing on the night in question, the highway was straight and level for a distance of at least a mile. The truck was directly in front of him and in his course of travel. According to his testimony he was keeping a constant lookout ahead. If he was not keeping a lookout ahead, he was guilty of negligence in failing to do so. There was nothing to obstruct his view. It was an ordinary clear, quiet summer night with no moon. So far as appears there was nothing



to divert his attention from the road in front of him. \* \* \* In such case it must inevitably follow that plaintiff did not keep a lookout ahead, or, if he did, he either did not heed what he saw or he could not see the truck because his lights were not such as were prescribed by law.”

When we come to the case of *Nielsen v. Watanabe*, 90 Utah 401, 62 Pac. (2d) 117 and introduce the element that the driver may not have been able to see by reason of some obstruction, a different rule is announced. That case involved a demurrer to a complaint wherein it was alleged that the brilliant lights from a car coming from the opposite direction completely blinded and destroyed the vision of the plaintiff and her husband and destroyed the effects of the lights of their own car so that they were unable to see defendant's truck parked upon the highway. This court held that the court below was in error in sustaining the demurrer, and said:

“ \* \* \* In the case of *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co.*, supra, it was held that a nonsuit was properly granted on the grounds of contributory negligence where the plaintiff, while driving an automobile at night along a straight level highway without anything to obstruct his view or detract his attention, ran into a truck without a tail-light parked on the highway. None of the cited cases are controlling of the case in hand. The complaint here questioned is silent as to

whether the highway near where the truck was parked is straight or crooked, level or otherwise. If the truck could not, because of some obstruction, be seen as plaintiff and her husband approached it prior to the time they were blinded, and if plaintiff's husband was driving at a lawful rate of speed an automobile properly equipped with lights and brakes without any reason to believe the headlights of another automobile would suddenly or unexpectedly blind him, that while so blinded the collision occurred without time for him to reduce his speed or stop his automobile, the rule announced in the cases relied upon by defendant and heretofore cited in this opinion would not apply. Under such circumstances it may not be said that plaintiff's husband was, as a matter of law, guilty of contributory negligence."

The case of *Hansen v. Clyde*, 89 Utah 31, 56 Pac. (2d) 1366 merely held that a contractor was not negligent in placing a barricade which was invisible due to a curve until the driver was about 50 feet away from the barricade. The court in that case did not say whether or not the driver of the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding was guilty of negligence.

The case of *Moss v. Christensen-Gardner*, 98 Utah 253, 98 Pac. (2d) 363 also involved a demurrer to a complaint in which it was alleged that the defendant erected a barricade across the highway and that because of accumulation of smoke and

mist and impaired visibility by glare of headlights the plaintiff could not see the unlighted barricade in time to safely avoid running into the same. This court held that the complaint alleged a cause of action and said of the rule announced in *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products*

“\* \* \* While this rule is recognized generally in other jurisdictions as well as in our own, it is certainly not a rule without limitation or restriction.”

Likewise, it was held in *Trimble et ux v. Union Pacific Stages*, 105 Utah, 457, 142 Pac. (2d) 674 that where automobile in which plaintiffs' decedent was riding had been pulled onto the highway after sliding off the slippery pavement in a dense fog, at night, and, while parked on left shoulder of highway without lights burning, the automobile was struck by a bus, the bus driver was not negligent as a matter of law.

The cases of *Horsley v. Robinson*, 112 Utah 227, 186 Pac. (2d) 592 and *Shiba v. Weiss*, 3 Utah (2d) 256, 282 Pac. (2d) 341 did not involve accidents which happened at night, and merely announced the general conceded proposition of law that no person shall drive a vehicle on a highway at a greater speed than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then and there existing. However,

neither of these cases holds that the mere fact that a collision occurs proves that the defendant was traveling at a speed greater than was reasonable and prudent. As said in *Horsley v. Robinson*, supra:

“The mere happening of the accident of course does not prove that the defendants were negligent. Nor does the fact that the rate of speed at which they traveled brought them at the scene of the accident at the time that the Reinhardt car went out of control and into the course of travel of the bus, because that is something that they could not anticipate and guard against.”

Moreover, the case of *Shiba v. Weiss*, supra, again involves a straight stretch of highway. As said by the court in that case:

“The accident having occurred on a stretch of highway which was straight and level for at least a distance of about  $\frac{1}{2}$  mile west of the point where the collisions occurred and there being no evidence of any obstructions to the view of the driver, the facts in the instant case are very similar to those in *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co.*, (supra) \* \* \*.”

A case on all fours with that before the court at this time is *Hodges v. Waite*, 2 Utah (2d) 152, 270 Pac. (2d) 461. In that case the jury determined from the facts in the case that the proximate cause of the accident was occasioned by the negligence of the defendant, by reason of the fact that he had



stopped and parked his truck and trailer upon the Logan-Bear River Highway below a curve in said highway which obstructed the view of motorists driving down the canyon, and this factor alone was the sole proximate cause of the accident. In sustaining the verdict the court said:

“The defendant in this case, in support of his position, relies on the Utah cases *Nikoleropoulos v. Ramsey*, 61 Utah 465; 214 P. 304; *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co.*, 80 Utah 331, 15 P. 2d 309; and *Wright v. Maynard*, Utah, 235 P. 2d 916. After a review of the decisions in these cases, we conclude that the law enunciated there, as a hard and fast rule, does not apply in the instant case. In *Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co.* the facts disclose that the defendant’s truck was parked upon the highway in the nighttime, which highway was straight, unobscured for over a mile, there were no curves, and no canyon highway was involved. In *Wright v. Maynard*, this Court held that the District Court committed error in directing a verdict in favor of the plaintiff, and held further that it was a question for the jury whether defendant’s inability to stop his automobile was the proximate cause of the accident.”

“We are inclined to follow the law enunciated by this Court in the case of *Trimble v. Union Pacific Stages*, 105 Utah 457, 142 P. 2d 674, and we believe the rule laid down in said case is applicable to the situation and the facts in the instant case. In this case this Court said: ‘Where automobile in which plain-

tiffs' decedent was riding had been pulled onto the highway after sliding off the slippery pavement in a dense fog, at night, and, while parked on left shoulder of highway without lights burning, the automobile was struck by a bus, the bus driver was not negligent as a matter of law', but a question of fact existed."

Plaintiff's argument loses sight of the fact that the negligence of the defendant, should we assume for the purpose of argument that he was negligent, may not have been the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury. In this connection the case of *Wright v. Maynard*, 120 Utah 504, 235 Pac. (2d) 916 is pertinent. In that case the appellant, at night, was traveling between 25 and 30 miles per hour when he rounded a slight bend in the road in the northern outskirts of Orem. After he rounded this bend his lights disclosed an unlighted car protruding in the highway on the side he was traveling and a man in white coveralls standing next to it waving at him. Appellant immediately applied his brakes but on account of the ice his car commenced sliding directly toward the other car and the man standing by its side, whereupon appellant swerved his car onto the shoulder east of the highway just to the east of the stalled car. Just as he did this respondent jumped to the east in front of appellant's car and was hit. Citing the *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy Products Co.*, *Horsley v. Robinson* and *Nikoleropoulos v. Ramsey* cases, the court, in distinguishing this case, said:

“In the instant case, the facts are different. Although appellant was not able to stop within the distance, he could observe substantial objects in front of him, still he saw them in time and had sufficient control of his car to turn aside and avoid running into them had they remained stationary. Had respondent herein not moved from his position near the door of the stalled car and jumped to the east as appellant swerved his car to the east, appellant would have avoided hitting him. Under such a state of facts, the principles enunciated in the *Nikoleropoulos* and *Dalley* cases do not apply. Even though appellant may have been driving too fast under existing conditions to stop in time to avoid hitting substantial objects disclosed by his carlights had he kept on a straight course, still such inability to stop where he had the ability to avoid a collision with those objects by some other means, such as turning aside, presents a different question from that decided in the two previous cases above referred to. It was a question for the jury to determine whether his inability to stop was the proximate cause of the accident or whether that cause was the unexpected change of position by plaintiff. The court therefore erred in ruling as a matter of law that appellant’s negligence was the proximate cause of the respondent’s injuries.”

In the case we are now considering the evidence shows that the plaintiff heard the defendant’s car coming, saw the lights from a distance of 600 feet away at a time when she was only about a foot from the edge of the oil surface of the highway,

and could have avoided the accident simply by either remaining off the highway or by stepping off the highway. Under these circumstances the jury may well have found that the negligence of the defendant, if any, was not a proximate cause of the injury to the plaintiff.

By our argument that the rule of the *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy Products Company* case does not apply to this case, we do not mean to infer that defendant is not subject to any restriction, for we believe that he is still subject to the rule that no person shall drive a vehicle on the highway at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions then and there existing, which is in effect what the court told the jury in its Instruction 6A (R. 69). To hold that the *Dalley v. Midwestern Products Company* rule does apply in a case where the view of the driver is obstructed by curves in the road would be to utterly disregard the realities of present-day driving and to impose upon the drivers of vehicles a standard of conduct with which it would be impossible for them to comply. A person driving a vehicle down a canyon at night, where the lights would alternately be shining directly into a canyon wall or out over the valley below, would either have to practically "feel" his way around each curve or proceed at the risk of being negligent should he collide with another object on the highway.

Not only can the verdict of the jury in this case be sustained upon the theory that the defendant was not negligent or, if negligent, that his negligence was not the proximate cause of the accident, but upon the further theory that the plaintiff's own negligence was the proximate, or at least a proximate, cause of her own injury. The evidence shows that she and Ralph Crane and the Osbornes had been together all afternoon and evening, during which time there had been considerable drinking. And while she states that when she saw the defendant's automobile 600 feet away she was too scared to move, the jury may have found that her senses had been dulled and her ability impaired to the point where she was unable to respond to the situation. Moreover, there is considerable evidence to the effect that the Osborne vehicle was parked without lights on the traveled portion of the highway and while she did not park the vehicle she, as a reasonable and prudent person, could not have been oblivious to the dangerous situation which had been created and, being conscious of the situation, may have been guilty of contributory negligence in attempting to cross behind said vehicle and into the left door of the vehicle when it would have been much safer for her to have approached the vehicle from the right side and to have entered the vehicle through one of the right doors.



This, of course, presumes that she and Mrs. Osborne actually left the road and went up on the hill to go to the bathroom. The two puddles of water would indicate that they may never have left the highway but had gone to the bathroom behind the Osborne vehicle, in which event the jury may have found them guilty of negligence in placing themselves in this position of danger. In this connection we have already cited the case of *Wright v. Maynard*, supra. The court's attention is also invited to *Mingus v. Olsen*, 114 Utah 505, 201 Pac. (2d) 495; *Reid v. Owen*, 98 Utah 50, 93 Pac. (2d) 680; *Cox v. Thompson*, 254 Pac. (2d) 1047; and *Smith v. Bennett*, 1 Utah (2d) 224, 265 Pac. (2d) 401.

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